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Site Specific Information 

 

Site Name: Dundrum Castle Car Park. 

 

Townland: Dundrum. 

 

SMR No (if applicable): (car park adjacent to) DOW 044:006. 

 

Grid Ref.: J40483688 (central part of car park) 

 

County: Down. 

 

Excavation Licence No.: AE/14/211E. 

 

Planning Ref. No.: N/A. 

 

Other NIEA Refs.: N/A. 

 

Dates of Excavation: 8/12/14 to 16/12/14. 

 

Archaeologists Present: Philip Macdonald (director) and Sapphire Mussen. 

 

Brief Summary: Archaeological excavation consisting of four, manually excavated, test trenches (1A, 1B, 2A and 2B) and two, 

mechanically excavated, test trenches (3A and 3B).  The excavation was undertaken as part of an evaluation of the archaeological 

potential of the car park located immediately to the south of Dundrum Castle.  In the eastern part of the car park the excavation 

only uncovered deposits associated with the construction of the platform upon which the car park was built during the late 60s or 

early 70s.  In the western part of the car park evidence was uncovered of a demolished nineteenth-century dwelling (Trench 1A) 

and terraces apparently associated with two phases of landscaping provisionally dated to the seventeenth and late eighteenth or 

early nineteenth centuries (Trench 2A and possibly Trench 1A).  No deposits, features or artefacts dating to the medieval or pre-

Norman phases of the siteôs occupation were observed during the course of the excavations. 

 

Type of Excavation: Manual excavation of four small test trenches (all 1.0 metre by 3.0 metres; Trenches 1A, 1B, 2A and 2B) and 

mechanical excavation of two small test trenches (both 2.0 metres wide and 6.5 and 5.0 metres in length; Trenches 3A and 3B 

respectively).  As the excavation was evaluative in character, not all of the archaeologically significant deposits that were 

uncovered were excavated.  The excavations were conducted under the supervision of the licensee (Philip Macdonald) and the 

stratigraphic sequence was documented using the standard context recording method. 

 

Size of Area Opened: The four manual test trenches (1A, 1B, 2A and 2B) were all 3.0 metres in length and 1.0 metre wide, whilst 

the two mechanically excavated trenches were variously 6.5 and 5.0 metres in length and both 2.0 metres wide (Trenches 3A and 

3B respectively). 

 

Current Land Use: Car park and picnic area. 

 

Proposed Land Use: Visitor centre. 
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Introduction 

Dundrum Castle (Sites and Monuments Record DOW 044:006) is situated on the summit of a prominent hill overlooking the 

small coastal town of Dundrum and the adjacent tidal inlet of Inner Dundrum Bay, has a long and complex history.  The surviving 

upstanding remains consist of an inner and an outer ward.  The inner ward dates to the Anglo-Norman period and contains the 

remains of a large circular tower and an apparently asymmetrical gatehouse with a single projecting semi-circular tower, whilst a 

seventeenth-century domestic structure, known as Blundellôs House, is located in the outer ward.  Artefactual and place-name 

evidence suggests that the Anglo-Norman castle was, almost certainly, built upon the site of an enclosed, high-status, Early 

Christian settlement.  Following the decline of the Anglo-Norman Earldom of Ulster in the fourteenth century, the castle was 

occupied by a branch of the Magennis family, although occasionally it was temporarily possessed by other prominent Gaelic 

figures and various representatives of the Crown.  It is uncertain whether the outer ward dates to the Anglo-Norman period or the 

later Gaelic phase of medieval occupation.  Following the Nine Yearsô War (1594-1603) the castle and its associated estate was 

held by Edward Cromwell, whose son subsequently sold it to the Blundell Family.  After being garrisoned during the wars of the 

1640s, local tradition maintains the castle was slighted by Parliamentarian forces in the mid seventeenth century.  There is no 

evidence to suggest that the castle was occupied after this date, although its associated manorial estate continued to be farmed by 

tenants of the Blundell family.  During the late eighteenth century the castle and its estate passed into the hands of the Hill family 

and formed part of the Downshire Estates.  Dundrum Castle was placed into State Care by the Marquis of Downshire in 1954.  

Significant archaeological investigation of the castle did not begin until the 1950s when a series of excavations were undertaken at 

the site for the Archaeological Survey of Northern Ireland (Waterman 1951; 1958; 1964).  Since 2009, three seasons of excavation 

at the site have been directed by Philip Macdonald (Queenôs University Belfast) and Liam McQuillan (Northern Ireland 

Environment Agency).  Although principally intended to inform the future management strategy for the monument, the recent 

programme of excavations has also addressed some of the unresolved historical questions concerning the site (Macdonald 2011a; 

2011b; 2014). 

 

The present report records the results of an evaluation that was conducted in two separate areas within the immediate environs of 

the car park at Dundrum Castle.  This work was undertaken during December 2014 in order to inform a decision concerning the 

preferred location of a proposed visitor centre at the monument.  The first area was located in the western part of the car park and 

was investigated through the manual excavation of four small test trenches (1A, 1B, 2A and 2B), whilst the second area was 

situated in the eastern part of the car park and was assessed by mechanically excavating two, slightly larger, test trenches (3A and 

3B) (Figure 1).  The test trenches were excavated in pairs (i.e. 1A and 1B, 2A and 2B, 3A and 3B), which shared a common 

alignment ï hence the unusual trench nomenclature.  This arrangement was intended to enable, if future resources allow, the 

paired trenches to be joined providing useful sections through the siteôs stratigraphic sequences.  During the course of the 

evaluation in December 2014 slope profiles between the paired trenches were surveyed. 

 

The car park was built at some point between late 1969 and early 1971.  It is located upon a terrace created by partly cutting into 

the hillside and partly by building up a raised platform.  As noted above, the trenches were located within both the western 

(Trenches 1A, 1B, 2A and 2B) and eastern (Trenches 3A and 3B) parts of this terrace.  The western area falls within what would 

be conventionally considered a zone of archaeological destruction where the hillside has been cut into, whilst the eastern area falls 

within a zone where archaeological preservation could be expected beneath the made-up ground of the platform that is built up on 

the car parkôs eastern and southern edges.  Complicating this appreciation of the likely areas of archaeological preservation within 

the car park and its immediate environs, however, is the fact that the construction of the car park was not the first episode of 

terracing on the site.  There appear to have been two previous episodes of terracing around the outer ward of Dundrum Castle.  
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The apparently earliest phase of terracing is located to the west of the outer ward.  A single trench was excavated across part of 

this system of terraces during the 2013 season of excavations (Macdonald 2014, 105-109).  Excavation demonstrated that the 

ópositiveô elements of these terraces consisted of platforms made up of dumped deposits of stones in a clay soil matrix and 

redeposited clay subsoil that had been retained by a single course of walling.  The date of this terracing has not yet been 

established, although samples recovered during the course of the 2013 excavation at the site will provide a terminus post quem for 

their construction when submitted for radiocarbon dating (Macdonald 2014, 107, 129).  Although these western terrace edges 

were used to form the boundaries of the apparent cottage gardens represented on the 1834 and 1859 Ordnance Survey 6ò maps 

(Figure 2), it is likely that the terraces themselves date to a more formal phase of gardening and landscaping.  This episode of 

landscaping has previously been attributed to the 1630s when the Blundell family began to transform Dundrum Castle into a 

seventeenth-century residence suitable for gentlemen landowners (Macdonald 2014, 109), however, it must be emphasised that 

this provisional dating is speculative.  The later phase of terracing was identified during excavations at Blundellôs House in 2009.  

Excavation exposed evidence of late eighteenth or early nineteenth-century terracing in the area immediately to the north of the 

car park.  These terraces consisted of dumps of voided deposits of stone and building rubble retained by mortared walls 

deliberately built at an angle and finished so as to look like natural outcrops of bedrock (Macdonald 2011a, 50-52, pl.12).  It has 

been previously suggested that this episode of terracing may have been part of a wider programme of landscaping intended to 

create an accessible ópicturesqueô ruin out of the standing remains of Blundellôs House and Dundrum Castle (Macdonald 2011a, 

83-85).  Given their close proximity, prior to the evaluation it was anticipated that both systems of terracing may have originally 

extended into the area now occupied by the car park. 

 

 

 

Figure 1: Plan showing the locations of the six trenches. 
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In addition to the two apparent phases of landscaping, the 1834 and 1859 6ò Ordnance Survey maps show the presence of a 

building located within the area of the car park in which Trench 1A was positioned (Figure 2).  Although no trace of this structure 

is visible on the ground today, it is likely that it represents a small domestic dwelling with an attached yard. 

 

 

Figure 2: Details of the 1343 (left) and 1859 (right) Ordnance Survey 6ò survey of Dundrum Castle and its immediate environs. 

 

In the event, the evaluative excavations reported on below uncovered evidence to suggest that deposits associated with both 

phases of terracing extended into the northern edge of the car park area (Trench 2A and possibly Trench 1A) and that demolition 

deposits and at least one truncated feature associated with the nineteenth-century dwelling also survive (Trench 1A). 

 

The Excavation 

The excavations were conducted under the supervision of the licensee (Philip Macdonald) and the stratigraphic sequence was 

documented using the standard context recording method.  Following excavation each trench was photographed and its principle 

sections were drawn at a scale of 1:10.  In addition, where appropriate, scale plan drawings of the trenches were also produced 

(scale 1:20).  In addition to illustration (see Appendix 4) and photography (Appendix 3), the principle site records consisted of a 

site diary augmented by separate registers of small finds (Appendix 5), bulk finds (Appendix 6) and samples (Appendix 7).  The 

systems of numbers used to record the field drawings, small finds and samples formed a continuous sequence with those 

previously used during the 2012 and 2013 season of excavations at Dundrum in order to facilitate joint publication.  Relevant 

members of the Northern Ireland Environment Agencyôs Inspectorate were kept informed of all significant developments during 

the course of the excavation.  At the request of the Inspectorate, excavation of Trenches 3A and 3B was restricted to a maximum 

depth of 1.2 metres.  This was partly for health and safety reasons and partly to avoid undermining the adjacent car park.  It is 

intended that the Harris Matrices for the site (see Appendix 2) are referred to whilst reading the following account of the 

stratigraphic sequences of the excavation. 

 

Trench 1A was a manually excavated cutting, 3.0 metres long, 1.0 metre wide and aligned northwest-southeast.  Underlying the 

thin sod/topsoil (101/102; maximum thickness 0.10 metres) was a thin, greyish brown silty clay loam (103; thickness 0.03-0.12 

metres) that included a large number of subrounded- to angular-shaped, small- to medium-sized stone inclusions and numerous 

modern finds.  A number of these stones were arranged vertically suggesting that it had been rapidly deposited.  The silty clay 

loam (103) is provisionally interpreted as being a levelling deposit upon which the overlying turves were laid during the 

construction of the car park.  In turn, the levelling deposit (103) overlaid an apparent demolition layer consisting of fragments of 
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mortar and subangular-to angular-shaped, medium-sized stones in a greyish brown silty clay loam soil matrix (104).  A small 

number of apparently nineteenth- or early twentieth-century finds were recovered from the apparent demolition deposit, which 

 

 

 

Figure 3: Plan of Trench 1A following excavation of probable demolition deposit of mortar fragments and stone in a greyish 

brown silty clay loam soil matrix (104), deposit of medium-sized angular stones and beach pebbles (112) that filled the slab-lined 

(107) probable drain (108), and relatively stone-free greyish-brown silt fill (109) of possible cut feature or natural hollow (110), 

showing the slab-lined probable drain (108) and the surface of the in situ or redeposited mineral subsoil (111). 

 

probably relates to the demolition of the cottage represented on the 1834 and 1859 6ò Ordnance Survey maps.  The apparent 

demolition deposit varied in thickness from 0.06 metres to 0.29 metres, being deepest at the southwestern end of the trench where 

it formed the upper fill of an irregular-shaped hollow (110) that extended beyond the southwestern and southeastern edges of 

excavation.  The base of this hollow contained a thin layer of relatively stone-free silt (109; maximum thickness 0.06 metres).  

Whether this hollow represents a natural variation in the underlying ground surface or was an artificial feature is uncertain, 

however, that it was largely filled with the demolition deposit with nineteenth- or early twentieth-century finds suggests that it is 

not of great antiquity and remained partly open up until the demolition of the nineteenth-century cottage.  In the northern corner of 

the trench, excavation of the apparent demolition deposit (104), revealed the truncated surface (105) of a slab-lined feature (108).  

The uppermost-surviving deposit was a thin layer of stone-free, greyish-brown, silty clay loam (106; thickness 0.05 metres) which 

overlay the principle fill of the feature - a voided deposit of medium-sized angular stones and beach pebbles (112; thickness 0.15 

metres).  The character of this fill suggests that the feature represents the remains of a drain associated with the nineteenth-century 

cottage.  Although no unequivocal dating evidence was recovered to confirm this interpretation, the presence of several fragments 
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Figure 4: Trench 1A following excavation of the probable demolition deposit of mortar fragments and stone in a greyish brown 

silty clay loam soil matrix (104), exposing the truncated surface (105) of the probable slab-lined drain (108) and possible cut 

feature or natural hollow (110) within the surface of the redeposited or in situ mineral subsoil (111), looking northeast. Scale 2.0 

metres. 

 

of coal (Small Find Nos.3791-3800) within the principle fill (112) of the feature indicates that it is not of any great antiquity.  

Underlying the voided deposit (112) was the primary fill of the drain - a stone-free-greyish brown silt (113) which had a 

maximum depth of 0.11 metres.  In addition to the coal fragments, the voided stone deposit (112) also contained two roof slate 

fragments (Small Find Nos.3789 and 3790) and a large iron binding strip (Small Find No.3766).  No other finds were recovered 

from the fills of the drain.  Both the slab-lined drain (108) and the hollow / possible feature (110) were cut into a deposit 

consisting of a mineral subsoil (111).  Although a 0.20 metre deep sondage was cut into this deposit, it was not possible to 

establish whether it represented the natural subsoil or was redeposited.  Given the position of the trench, the possibility that the 

deposit represents a deliberate dump of material associated with the construction of a garden terrace should not be dismissed.  


